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IM THE COURT OF APPEAL

RESIDENT MAGISTRATE'S CRIMINAL APPEAL NO. 100/85

BEFORE: TH:E FON. MR, JUSTICE KERR -~ PRESIDENT (AG.)
THE FON. MR. JUSTICE CAREY, J.A.
THE HOM. MR. JUSTICE WFITE, J.A.

RE GINA
Vs,

FITZROY CRAICIE
DWI CHI' BYMAN
NIXTON WALLACE
STANHOPE NAIN
BRYAN SMALLING
WILLIAM WOOD
ROY BROWN
CARLTON JOENSON
FRANK GRAY
GERALD CAISERON
LEROY DWKLEY
RONALD STERLING 3

Mr. Ian Ramsay and Mr. Ceorge Thomas for
Dunkley, Nain, Smalling and Jchnson.

Mr. Roy Fairclough for Craigie, Hyman and Wallace.

v

Yr. Enos Grant and Mr. B.E. Frankson for Sterling,
Brown and Yood.

Mr. Hugh Thompson for Cray and Cameron.

Mr. CGlen Andrade, Q.C., Deputy Director of Public
Prosecutions for the Crown.

November 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 18, 19, 1985;
and Jay 22, 1986

KERR, P. (AC.):

The appellants were jointly tried and convicted in the
Resident Magistrate's Court for 5t. James before Fis Honour,
Mr. D.J. Pitter for breaches of the Dangerous Drugs Act.

We dismissed the appeals and affirmed the convictions
and sentences. We now set out herein the reasons for our

decisions.
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The Informations on which they were chargéd and

convicted in the operative parts read:

"INFORMATION 4375/85

On the o6th Jaruary, 1985 Fitzroy Craigie,
Dwight  Hyman, Nixton Wallace, Stanhope Nain,
Bryan Swalling, Wiiliam Wood, Roy Brown,
Carlton Johnson, Frank Cray, Cerald Cameron,
Leroy Bunkley, Ronald Sterling, and Pugh Scott,
unlawfully had ganja in their possession.

Contrary to Section 7 (c) of the Dangerous Drugs
Act.

INFORMATION 4279/85

On the 6th January, 1985 Fitzroy Craigie,
Dwight FHyman, Nixton Wallace, Stanhope Nain,
Bryan Smalling, William Wood, Roy Brown,
Carlton Johnson, Frank (Cray, Gerald Cameron
Leroy Dunkley, Ronald Sterling and Hugh Scott,
did attempt to export ganja from the Island of
Jamaica.

Contrary to Secticn & of the Dangerous Drugs
Act.,

INFORMATION 4380/85

On the 6th day of January, 1985 Fitzrov Craigie,
Dwight Fyman, Nixton Wallace, Stanhope Nain,
Bryan Smalling, William Wood, Roy Brown,

Carlton Johnson, Frank CGray, Cerald Cameron,
Leroy Dunkley, Ronald Sterling and Hugh Scott
did use conveyances namely canoes for carrying
ganja,

Contrary to Section 22 (1) {e) of the Dengerous
Drugs Act.

INFORMATION 4381/85

On the 6th day of January 1985 TFitzrey Craigie,
Dwight Fyman, Nixton Wallace, Stanhope Nain,
Bryan Smalling, William Wood, Roy Brown,
Carlton Johnson, Frank Cray, Cerald Cameron,
Leroy Dunkley, Ronald Sterling and Fugh Scott,
did deal in ganja.

Contrary to Section 7 (b) of the Dangerous Drugs
Act. "

The defendant Hugh Scott was acquitted on all charges

wvhile on the charge of '"dealing', only leroy Dunkley and

Ronald Sterling were convicted,
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On Friday the 4th of January, 1985 in accordance with
certain instructions received from Commander David Fall, a
vessel in the possession of the Jamaica Defence Force apparently
prepared for covert action, unnamed, fitted with a VHF radio
operating on Channel 10 and with a2 marine radio, with Lieutenant
by Harvey in charge and a crew"of Jamaica Defence Force
personnel and Acting Corporai 0f Police Howard Hamilton, set out
from Kingston, its destination a point off the Montego Bay shore.
According tc Lieutenant Harvey, he arrived there at 11:00 p.m.
and tock up this position which was about quarter of a mile
from the Mcontege Bay Free Port area.

There had been an earlier mission to the same place on
Saturday, Tecember 12, 1984. He then had a conversatiocn with
one "Papa John" using as instructed, the name “Albatross’, about
a shipment of ganja. This mission fell through because the
shipment was nct ready according to his contact "Papa Jchn."

A sscond mission on December 27 was aborted because the
ship "broke down' en route coff Port Aatcnio.

On this the third mission, Farvey and his ship arrived
at or near the same rendezvous zs on the previous occasion.
while there and using the same ccde name ""Albatross" he received
information on the radio operating, as advised, on Channel 10
from ""Papa John’'. He reccgnized the voice as the same on the
nrevigus cccasion. The caller informed him that the shipment
was ready but would await the departure of cruise ships then in
port. After the éhips depafted “Papa John" advised,"Plgase
prepare to receive the first load - we are coming out now'.
About fifteen minutes later, a canoe with three men on board
and laden with packages arrived along-side the ship and these
were placed on bocard ship by the three men. FHarvey said the

appellant Craigie was one of the three men. Fe had known him

before, having seen him on occasicns at the Montego Bay Vatch
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Club. He refused Crairie's regquest to come on board. Craigie
asked him to move the ship nearer to the shore from which they
were moving the packages. He agreed and piloted by Craigie in
his cance, Harvey moved his ship to a point in the sea about
half of a mile off Reading. Harvey who was dressed in a T-shirt
and shorts, pulled his cap over his face to avoid recognition

by Craigie and he spoke in a simulated American accent. The
cance left, and he then communicated by his military radio with
his superior officer. About forty-five minutes after, another
canoe came and transferred its load to the ship. A third cance
then came along with three men and off-loaded its packages.

At this stage, Harvey and his men disclcsed their true identity
and took the three men into custcay. Of the three men, Craigie
and another had made the first trip. Some hours lnter, three
vessels - two canoes and an open hulk of a cabin cruiser, cane
along - the hulk being towed by a canoe. On Harvey's direction
they came along-side. Geven men were in the larger vessel. The
canoes and hulk had packages. The Jamaica Defence Force ship,
the Manatee, then came upon the scene. The cance towing the
open hulk broke or slipped the two line and took coff. The seven
men in the larger vessel were taken into custody.

Acting Corpcral Hamilton, who corroborated Harvey in
every important particular, said he had kept out of sight during
the loading operations but came forward and assisted in securing
the boat and custody of the men. When the three men, Hyman,
Wallace and Craigie, were detained on board, he had opened one
package and showed the contents of vegetable matter resembling
ganja to them and that the appellant Craigie then said, "Boss,
beg you a chance and hold the other two men ... me a police,

mi wife a breed and me pickney dem have to go a school, anything

you want, name it and dem boys we tek care of you.” The men,
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the packacges ard the boats were taken to the nier at the
Montege Bay Free Port.

Acting Ceorporal Lawrence of the Narcotics Divisicn
gave evidence that, while at the Montego Bay Free Port that
night, he had been in radio communication with the “Albatross"
and as a result of information received at about 2:30 a.m. he
went to the shore at Reading and recovered thirteen packages.
As a resuit of further communications between himself and the
"Albatross” he went to the pier at Montego Bay Free Port and
waited until the "Albatross' arrived with the cances and open
hulk.

Therc were three appellants, Craigie, Hyman and Wailace
on board the ship and seven other appellants: Nain, Smalliug,
Wood, Brown, Johnson, Gray and Cam~bell in the open hulk.
familtecn in their presence made o report to him.

On the ship were sixty-nine packages, in the cance
"Eagle Craft®, thirty-two packages, and on the big cpen hulk,
fifty-seven packages. The packages when opened contained
vegetable matter resembling ganja and he so advised the ten men.
He labelled the packages taken from each place separstely and
arrested the ten men for possession, trafficking, attempt to
export and conspiracy to export ganja.

The packages were sealed and stored in the Jamaica
Defence Force Coast Guard vessel and the prisoners taken to the
Mcntego Bay lockup. lLater the packages were removed to the
store-room of the Narcotics Division in Kingston where on the
21st of January Dr. Lee took samples of the packages from each
place of collection - (Reading, the Albatross, the Eagle Craft
and the open hulk). Captain Errcol Bailey cof the Jamaica Defence
Force Coast Cuard who was on board the Manatee Bay gave evidence
of the packages being stored on the Manatee Bay and being taken

to Kingston.
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The case against the appellants Dunkley and Sterling
(who were subsequently arrested on warrants) and their
culpable involvement in the activities cf the night of the
4th January, 1985 rested entirely on the evidence of
Anthony Cammarato and Michael Moorn, members of the (..S. Drug
Enforcement Agency in Florida. It was the prosecution's case
that the events of that night were in keeping with arrangements
which had their genesis in Florida in April 1984,

Lccording to Cammarato, on the 10th of that month he met
the appellant Sterling at the hcuse of one Ruth Carstarphen
who intrcduced him and another under-cover agent as
associatesof hers. There was then discussion with Sterling
about their providing an aircraft and pilet for transferring
marijuana (ganja) from Jamaica; of Sterling undertaking to
provide security cover and an air-strip in Montego Bay; of the
dackaging ¢f the garja; of payment of expenses incurred, and
of Ruth Carstarphen handling the security in Florida. The
arrangements fell through because no agreement concerning the
cxpenses was reaGhed. There was 2 seccnd meeting at
Carstarphén’s hcuse on November 7, 1384, between Cammarato,
Sterling and Ruth Carstarphen concerning the transportation
of ganja by shir. The amount of ganja would be about 10,060 1ibs.

-

In the ccurse of discussions, Sterling invited Cnmmarato to
visit Jamaica to meet his partners. Cammarato said he would
need more commitment from Sterling before coming to Jamaica.
Sterling then gave certain assurances: there would be nc
nproblem; he would nrovide security; and that a radio with
arranved frequencies would be provided., Sterling also gave
him a Jamaican telephone number - 953-2236 - by which he could
be contacted. Cammarato came to Jamaica the following month,
December 12. He first spoke with Commander Hall of the Jamaica

Defence Force in Kingston and on the following cday while at the



Seawind Fotel in liontego Bay he saw and spoke with Sterling.
Cammarato said that between the last weeting in Florida

and this neeting at the Secawind Fotel he had spoken with
Sterling and one Scottie about seven to ten times znd he had
taped the conversations. At the talk with Sterling at Scawind

Michael iloon was present, On the following day as arranged,

at about 5:30 r».m. Sterling took them by car to Patte:
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Avenue in the Ironshorz area, and there introduced them to the
appellants Sunkley and Craigie. Of Craigie, Sterling said,
"This is the waterman' and that Craigic would be the one
vringing the ganija. Dunkley said that Craigie was the security
man and a Marine Police CGfficer. To this Craigie adumitted being
a policeman for "about thirtcen years.” Cammarato then wroduced
a mapn provided by Commander FE:ll and Craigie pointed out 2
channel in the sea off Montege Bay and a point two chains from
the reef and a2 quarter of a mile from shore and nlacad an
overlay on the mar there. The wmap with cverlay was tendered in
gvidence. In Dunkley’s room time and nmanner of delivery were
niscussed, the code words, "Papa Jchn' and "Albatross™ decided

upon. “Papa John" being Craigic's identification and “Albatross’

Cammarato's vessel; the communication to be by radio on VEF
Channel 10. 1In answer to Dunkley's enquiry as to“price, i
Cammarato said that as it had already cost him over $§40,000.00

for boat and crew he would give US$200.00 per 1b. and that

since he had a buyer he would give the money to Sterling the
following week. Dunkley then promised to throw in an additional
1,000 to 2,000 1bs. Discussions concluded, Sterlinz took

Cammarato and Moon to their hotel. Sterling again met then

the following morning at the hotel and Cammarato told him that

he had contacted his vessel and crew aund baszd on the information i
relative to frequencies, everything would be set and there was

no need for another visit to the residence. At a further meeting

sk
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at noon, the arrangements were again discussed and the delivery
was to take place within a few‘ﬂays. Cammarato advised
Sterling that they would be lcaving Jamaica that day and so
they did, by the afternoon flight from Montego Bay to Florida.

Moon's evidence corroborated Cammarato as to the
discussions between Cammarato and Sterling at the Seawind
Fotel and also the discussions and arrangements between
Cammarato, Sterling, Dunkley and Craigie at Ironshore. He also
gave evidence of conversations he had by telephone calls to
the same number Sterling gave Cammarato and of speaking to
"Leroy" and Dunkley whcese voice he recognized. The convergs-
tions concerned the planned venture. Both Cammarato and koon
were closely cross-examined and at great length. They denied
being in Jamaica in January 1985. As it was not argued that
there were inconsistencies and conflicts in their evidence
reference will only be made to such e¢vidence elicited in cross-
examination as is essential in dealing with the questions raised
on appeal.

David Lee, the Covernment Analyst save evidence to the
effect that from samples which he took all the packages con-
tained ganja.

No case submissions based upon critical examinations of
the evidence for the prosecution were rejected and all the
defendants were called on.

The case for the appellants Zunkley, Nain and Sterling
rested on submissions made by their attorneys. Appellant
Craigie gave evidence on oath. FHe said he was a Corporal of
Police with over twelve years service and in January 1985
stationed at Montego Bay and at the time attached to the Marine
Division there. At abcut 10:30 p.w. that nisht he was on
board the police launch at 014 Xerr Wharf, Montego Bay, when %

he saw the appellants Hyman and Wallace (known to him as Nicky
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and Billy) ir a fibre-glass canoe. They informed him that

they had seen boats with men and packages along the beach. He
asked them to wait at the wharf for him. He then left and

made efforts to locate officers of the Marine Division

including Inspector Beaumont but without success. He returned

to the pier and persuaded Hyman and ¥allace to assist him in
investigating their repcrt. He was wearing civilian clothes.

His intention was to observe, make notes and report to his
superiors. They took him in their canoe to the beach at Reading,j
There he saw three canoes and about twenty men. Some of the men
looked like fishermen. Of the twenty men, three were white. The,
sea was rough and because of that the fishermen said they were ‘
not going out. Fe instructed Hyman and Wallace to find out whati
was happening and they went to where the men were while he
remained in the cance. HNicky reported that the men were having
problems in getting the packages out to a boat and offered him

a job to assist them. Craigie said he adviscd him to take the
job as that will assist him in his investigations. Nicky spoke
with the men and they loaded the packages in the canoe. On the
instructions of a white man they put out for a point a mile off
"Seawind'" where he saw a ship. He observed that there wns no
name on the ship but the letters "FL' indicating a Florida
registration. No light was con it. He went along-side and two

of the crew threw out line by which they tied the canoe to the
ship. The packages were transferred to the ship. FHis request |
to go on board was denied. After unloading his canoe he returncﬁ
to the beach. There he saw a white man - who looked like the i
witness Moon but his features were different then - he had on a
beard. Fis canoce was again loaded and with others in ancther
canoe made the trip to the ship. After the other cance was
unloaded and left and while his canoe was along-side he heard

a voice saying, '"Den't move, and guns were pointed on them by men
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on the beat. They were then tsken aboard. In obscene language
he told them he was a police officer investigating and YFyman
and Wallace were asisting. All three were ordered to sit and
be ¢uiet. About half hour after other boats came along. Then
the Coast (ward boat arrived and the other boats and men were
detained. He denied using the words alleged by Corporal
Hamilton and in particular that his wife was pregnant. He
denied that there was any meeting at Dunkley's house with
Cammarato in December. In cross-exanination he denied knowing
Sterling or Dunkley before. When he¢ was seeking assistance he
saw regular policemen but he did noct say anything to them. Fe
was not armed - he did not consider that he was on a dangerous
operation. He went as an under-cover man that night - he had
no identification on him - he did not alert the Coast Cuard
because he had nothing concrete tc tell them.

After his observation of the boat, he had something
concrete to renort. FHe wanted to make sure the packages were
on board. He did suspect the nackages contained ganja. The
loading at Reading was at 12:30 a.w. The trips took two and a
half hours.

For what it was worth Dr. Xingsley Smith gave evidence
that 2t the material time Craigie's wife was not pregnant.

Appellant Wallacelin a statement from the dock spoke of
Fyman and himself meeting Craigie at ¥err's Wharf: of agreeing
to assist him in his investications; of going tc the beach at 3
Reading and or Craigie’s instructions agreeing to assist the
men in conveying the packages to the boat; of making the trips
to the ship: of being taken into custody with Craigie who told
the men on the shin that he was a policeman carrying out

investigations.

Hvman in his unsworn statement said, "I heard what

Nixton Wallace has said and it is true.”
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Roy Brown in his unsworn statement said that he and
others were fishing with a net off the beach at Bogue that
night when a boat with three men (two white and one black)
came up with two extra boats and offered them U535160.00 each
to assist in conveying some packages. Fe agreed. At the
beach, the mer loaded the boats with the packages. They set
out, but his boat was stuck on the reef for some time. lhen
it was eventually freed thev went out to the ship where they
were held; he did not know what was in the packages.

Frank Gray in his unsworn statement merely agreed "with
what Brown had to say.”

(erald Cameron in his unsworn statement said that he was
at River Bay Beach with the aupellants Smalling, Main and
Johnson when two men - a white and a black offered each $100.00
as he wanted a boat to go to the reef. They went into a canoe
to the Reading area and when they got to the reef he saw men,
boat and packages there. On going out from the reef they saw
a big white ship and another ship. Their boat was towed with
them to dontego Bay Free Port. Appellants Smalling and Johnson
merely stated that Cameron’s account was true.

The learned Resident Magistrate after hearing full
submissions by defence attorneys in his ""findings of facts”
concisely set out his findings on the important issues. Such
findings as were challenged on appeal or relevant to the
questions raised will be referred to specifically.

Mr. Ramsay opened his attack on the convictions, on the
joint trials of the appellants and the conduct of the prose-
cution under the following grounds of appeal which generally

were apprlicable to all the appellants:



-12-

"That the Court upon the application of the

defence ought tohave compelled the Crown to

elect between the charzes preferred against

the accused; alternatively, that the

iniormations are bad for duplicity; that the

Crown ought to have opened to the facts of

the case relied on as reguested by Counscl for

the defence and as indicated by the learned

Resident Masistrate.’

in support, Mr. Pamsav submitted that there was a latent
duplicity in that on one view of the case for the prosecution
it may be that certain apwellants convicted of certain sub-
stantive cffences could not be so convicted and it that is so,
then it may be that different persons are being tried together
for different offences. In that regard the basis for the
conviction of Dunkley and Sterling would have to be different
from the others. If they were merely in conspiracy to do
certain things then in the joint information quite different |
offences by different persons wight be included or scveral
offences (albeit of the same type) are in one information.
Turther, the failure to open had the conjoint effect of

misleading the defence or leaving it unprevared for the type
and nature of the forthcoming evidence. Counsel for the Crown
ought to hrave adhered to the written practice directions of the

Director of Public Prosecuticns that in complex summary Case<s,

such as this is, counsel should open to the facts.

Now 2s was stated in %. v. Creenfield (1973) 3 All E.R. |

p. 1050 - duplicity is 2 matter of form. On the face of these
informations there is-no duplicity nor do we understand

Mr. Ramsay to be so urging. Apparently, the gravamen of his
complaint was that the role allegedly played by certain
defendants and in particular, Dunkley aund Sterling cannot be
deduced from th: informations and that the refusal by senior
prosecuting counscl to open tathe facts nrejudiced or impeded the

presentation of the defence.
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While there is no duty on the prosecution to open to
the facts in a case triable in the summary jurisdictions,
nevertneless we firmly advocate that the practice directions
of the Director of Public Prosecutions to the effect that it
is desirable that in complex cases the prosecution ought to
open to the facts be followed. The advantages are self-
evident; the Masistrate is thereby advised of the nature of
the case for the prosecution and the evidence to be adduced
in proof thereof, and with such prescience will be better
able to appreciate the relevance and purpose of evidence
sought to be tendered and better prepared to deal with
objections as to admissibility. Further, defence counsel,
against the background of their instructions will be able to
identify the important issues in contention and avoid cross-
examination that may be merely fishing or irrelevant. The
instant case¢, involvirg issues of common design and questions
of particews criminis is one in which an opening to the facts
should have been made. However, having regard to the method
of presentztion and the order in which the evidence unfclded
and that the trial extended over nearly three months with
@ighteen days of hearing, there wés ample onportunity tc
aporeciate the nature of the Crown's case. Indeed the sub-
tained challenpe to the credit 2ad credibility of certain
important witnesses and the full and astute presentation of thé'

defence would belie anv suggestion that there was any real pre-

i

H

judice or impediment to the presentation of the defence.
The sccond ground cf comrlaint concerned the admissibility
of certain evidence and the rprejudicial effect of such evidence,

First: The evidence of radio conversation
as given by:

(i) Corporal Lawrencs and

(ii) lieutenant Yarvey from the
Albatross with “Papa John'.
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Re (i) Corworal Lawrence:

Mr. Ramsay submitted that such evidence ought not be

admitted as the witness could not identify the voice heard on
his radio and the calls werec. not made by any of the appellants.
Mow, Lawrence's evidence was to the effect that he had
heard on a pre-arranged radic frequency a call at 2:30 a.m.
from the "Albatross'. That he knew that that was the code
name for the ship in this undercover operation and that as a
result of that informaticn he went to the beach at Reading
and recovered 2 number of packages containing ganja and that
on receipt of further radio information he went to the Montego
Bay Free Port where he took charge of the overations.
In our view the admission of this evidence is unobjection-
able. Such evidence 1is merely explanatory of the witness'
conduct.

Re (1i) Harvey:

Strong objections were taken to the admissibility of
Harvey's evidence concerning his conversation as "Albatross®
with "Papa Joha".

Before us it was submitted that neither Farvey nor
Familton was able to identify the voice of "Papa John" -
indeed, Farvey had said in evidence that hc had ''no idea who
Papa John was'. Accordingly it was zargued that the learned
Resident Magistrate erred in finding that "it was the accused
Craigie who made the c2ll identifying himself as ‘Papa John'.™

It was clear to us that the identification of "Craigie”” as Papa John
could not rest on the evidence of Farvey. Fowever, in our
view, the admission of Harvey's evidence and this finding of
the Resident Magistrate rested ¢n firm bases. VWhen Harvey ceame
to give his evidence, the learned Resident Magistrate had
already heard from Cammarato of the “well laid plams" including

code words, radio frequency, renldezvous and that Craigie would
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be the “‘waterwman’ who would use the c¢ode word, ‘'Pana John',
The foundation had then been already laid. Then, after the
conversation with the same veice, as on the previous mission,
Craigie came along at the appointed time and niace in the
first canoe with the first shipment and gave advice to Harvev
tc move the ship nearer the loading strip. On such primary
facts, the inference that Cruigie was "Papa John” was reason-
able and inescapable.

Sgecondly: It was submitted that the learned Resident
Magistrate in spite of objections, expressly admitted evidence
of an a2lleged conversation between the defendant Sterling and
Cammarato ip Awmerica as evidence against all the accused for
the purpose of all charges, which, it clearly could not be,
since it would be evidewnce against Sterling alone.

In support, Mr. Ramsav further urged that the meetings
and discussions in the United 3tates were so remote in time and
nlace that the evidence ought not to have been even z2dmitted
against Sterling, and at the time these conversations were held,
the status of the witness as uzn agent nrovocateur could nct be
determined.

There really is no nerit in these submissions. The L.S5.
meetings were part of a series and clearly admissible against
Sterling who was jeointly charged with the others. Nowherc in
his findings were we adverted to the Resident Magistrate making
use of that eviJence against the other defendants. The Resident
Magistrate, as judze in his Court wust be nresumed to know the
law and be aware of the ¢lementary rule of evidence that in a
criminal case, admissions are only evidence acainst the maker
unless adopted by others by word or conduct. Indeed the fact
that he dismissed all the other defendants except Sterling and
Dunkley on the charge of "dealing in sanja’” is clearly indicative

of his not doing so,
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Thirdly: That the learned Resident Magistrate
allowed the tender of alleged tapes of conversations between

the American agents and the appellants Sterling and Dunkley when:

i) There was no production from proper
custody before the Court, bearing in
mind that the evidence was that the
tapes had been placed in the custody
of the Evidence Custodian at Fort
Lauderdale, Florida, and he was not
called as a witness.

(ii) That the tapes were admitted with
unjudicial haste and long before there
was complete testimony and adduction
of facts by either side to justify
such reception,

(iii) That the learned Resident Magistrate
ignored or brushed aside or reconciled
contradictions of fact relating to
this provenance of the tapes and in
particular to the vital question
whether it was the “originals” that
were produced in Court.

At the trial, Cammarato in evidence said, that after the
recordings, he would make copies of the tapes, then initial and
place them in a plastic bag and give it to the "Evidence Custo-
dian”. He labelled the original tapes. If further copies were
required, he would reopen the sealed plastic bag, make copies
and reseal the bag. When he received them from the Evidence
Custodian, they were not disturbed in anyway. He then prcduced
a sealced envelope with three tapes in it. The seals were placed
by him. He broke the seals in Court, and tendered as originals,
the three tapes which were then tendered and marked as exhibits.

Obiections were then made:

&y That the defence was entitled to a
transcript of such recordings so that
objections could be prepared in the
usual way as is usual in the case where
admissions are being tendered against a

deferdant and none was given to them.

(2) That evidence of tapes was only admissible
on:

(a) oproper identification of the
recorded voices;
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(b) if the evidence met the
requirements of relevance
and admissibility; and

(¢) there was evidence of proper
provenance of the exhibits.

(3) That there should be a'voir diréd to test
the admissibility of the evidence ccn-
tained in the tapes.

Counsel for the Crown in reply submitted, inter alia
that:

1) There was evidence of originality,
authenticity, and relevance and proper
provenance,

2) That as Resident Magistrate sitting as

judge and jury there was no necessity
for a 'voir dire'.

The Court then ruled that the '"tapes be admitted in
evidence'. Then followed specific identification and admission
of three original tares and copies of the originals. Counsel
for the Crown then applied for the tapes to be played. Defence
counsel objected strongly to the playing of the tapes. The
learned Resident Magistrate nrudently ruled ''tapes to be heard
by defence counsel before the playing of the original tapes".

This was on the 3rd of June. On the following day the Court
pronounced that tapes should be played together at the conclusion.
On the 11th of June and 1st of July the tapes were played by
Cammarato after Moon had given evidence. Both Cammarato and

Moon were subject to further cross-examination,

So, although notionally the# tapes were in evidence from
the 3rd of June, in reality, the evidence contained therein was
not before the Court until the playing of the tapes, and by then
the defence attorneys werc aware of the contents of the tapes
and were in a position to chazllenge their Zenuineness, originality§
and relevance and this they did by incisive and extensive cross- |
examination of Cammarato and Moon. That the tapes were adnmitted

as exhibits at the time, rather than marked fer identity, was a
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mere formal technicality. In point of fact, the evidence
contained therein was only admitted when the tapes were played
and by then there was proper foundation for admissibility of
such evidence.

On the question of originality and provenance, there
was before the Resident Magistrate sufficient credible evidence
that the tapes were original, were kept in reasonably safe
custody and were not tampered with.

As was said - R. v. Robson (1972) 2 All E.R. at p. 701:

"In the first .stage, when the qguestion is

solely that of admissibility - i.e. is the

evidence competent to be considered by the

jury at all? the judge, it seems to me,

would be usurping their functions if he pur- :
ported to deal with nct merely the primary

issue of admissibility but with what is the
ultimate issue of cogency. My own view is
that in considering that limited question
the judge is required to do no more than to
satisfy himself that a prima facie case of
originality has been made out by evidence
which defines and describes the provenance
and history of the recordings up to the
moment of production in court."

On the question of voir dire, as the Resident Magistrate

was judge of the law and tribunal of fact, a preliminary test

dire ‘
of admissibility by way of a voir/was impractical and unnecessary.

In any event, in the circumstances of this case, there was no
basis for holding a "trial within a trial®.

Ancther area of complaint was against the witnesses
Cammarate and Moon - their status, integrity, credit and
credibility and the prower approach to their evidence. As to
status, the following grounds were argued by Mr. Ramsay:

) That the ‘evidence' of Cameratta
and Mocn was that they were special
agents of the Drug Enforcement
Administration, a foreign agency
located in the United States of
America; that they came to Jamaica
and pursued activities criminal in
themselves, under a doctrine of ‘hot
pursuit' as these activities began in
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"the thited States of America. That in
Jamaica they received authority to act as
they did from the Drug Enforcement Admini-
stration attache, one Peter Davis, attached
to the lhited States Embassy in Kingston and
to whom they reported exclusively; that to
their specific knowledge they were never
authorized by any member of the Jamaican
Covernment to do what they did; nor had they
authority from the lccal Police, nor were
they deputed Special Constables in relation
to the Jamaican Constabulary;nor did they
even speak to any member of the Jamaican
Police Force until April, 1985, well after
the incidents in issue; further they
expressly stated that they received no
authority to act in Jamaica from one
Commander Hall of the Coast Guard to whom ,
they spoke af+e» meeting with their attache:

THAT on the basis of the above it is submitted:

() A duty was cast upon the Crown to
show the lawful presence of these
men in the Island, for example
whether any Government to Govern-
ment agreements existed between
the Wnited States i America and
Jamaica which permitted the above
kind of conduct within the sovereign
state of Jamaica by aliens.

) Having regard to their testimony as
to their 'authorization' to act by
an attache to the United States
Embassy in Jamaica, it was further
the duty of the Crown to establish
whether they came within the ambit of
Diploratic Immuni’.; or ant; as on the
one hand, if they did, then it would
require express waiver for them to
invoke the criminal jurisdiction
either against or for themselves; if
not, then they were mere private un-
authorized aliens of unfounded pre-
tensions in law, whose actions would
make them ‘particeps criminis' in the
ordinary sense of the word.™"

And Mr. Fairclough following on thus:

" (c) That having regard to their admitted

lack of an/or proof of authority from
the Government and/or the Police
authorities to act within Jamaica, the
cases clearly show that the alleged
agents would fall outside the ambit of
‘agents provocateurs' and into the
category of accomplices requiring corro-
boration within the meaning of that term
in this arer of law.”

6%



The lenrned Resident Magzistrate expressly found that
Cammarato and Moon were agents vcrovecateur and not accomplices.

We accept as correct the stotement that a person who
participates in an offence simply for the purpose of cbtaining
evidence is not an accomplice for the purpose of the rule

requiring corroboration - R. v. Buckley, 2 Cr. App. R. 53,

What we are being asked to say that although as members
of the Drug Enforcement Agency in the U.S.A., Cammaratc and
Moon qua pclice spies, may be agent provocateur in the U.S.A.,
when they came to Jamaica they were bevond their jurisdictions,
and in the absence of positive proof that they were authorized
to pursue their investigative activities here by the Jamaican
Police, they were to be treated as particeps criminis.

The grounds ard arpguments in sup»ert are interestingly
novel but unsupported by authority and good sense. An agent
provocateur is not like a chameleon, changing colour with the
place where he way be at a particular time. According to the
evidence, throughout, the intent of Cammarato and Moon was to
obtain evidence of drup exnortation from Jamaica tc the UTnited
States of America bv Sterling and other Jamaicans., 1In any
event, there was ample evidence to infer that the joint pelice
and defence force cperation on the night of the 4th Janusry
was based on information supplied by Cammarato and, in additiong
there was the express statement of Cammarato that he communi-
cated with Cammander Fall, a member of our Security Forces, who
provided hir the map that wns used in arranging the rendezvous.

There really is no merit in these submissions on the
status of the witnesses Cammarato and Moon.

On the question of inteority, it was submittec that in

any event, these agents on a groper assessment of their

evidence instigated, encouraged, incited, fomented, participated,
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and forced on others, a crime they would not have otherwise
committed; that in the light of certain Commonwealth
authorities there was a discretion in the Court to be
exercised in favour of the exclusion of such evidence and that
in the instant case the learned Resident lagistrate “equivo-
cated, side-stepped and failed to apply this principle.”

Mr. Grant, in far reaching research, unearthed cases
from the U.S.A. and Commonwezlth jurisdictions illustrating
the approach to evidence from “rappers’ ia those jurisdictions.
He submitted that the decision in the House of Lords case of

R, v. Sang (i979) 3 All E.R. 1222, which denied the existence

of any such general discretion as that for which he was con-
tending, ought not to be followed as it went further than cases

of binding authority such as Herman King v. R. (18686) 2 All E.

R, 610 and R. v. Arnough (post).

In deference to Mr. Grant's industry and enthusiasmr, we
considered certain cases cited in support of the different
approach to the evidence of agent provocateurs in the countries
touched by his odyssey.

In the U.S.A. submits Mr. Crant, entranpment was a totail

defence as illustrated by the case of Sherman v. U.5.A. 356 1S5

369. In delivering the opinion of the Court Warren C.J. referred

to the earlier case of Sorrells v, U.S, 287 US 435 and quoted

with approval the following headnotes:

"Headnote 1: This Court firmly recognized
the defence of entrapment in
the federal courts. The
intervening years have in no
way detracted from the prin-
ciples underlying that decision.
The function of law enforcement
is the prevention of crime and
the annrehension of criminals.
iianifestly, that function does
not include the manufacturing
of crime. Criminal activity 1is
such that stealth and strategy
are necessary weapons in the
arsenal of the police officer.
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However 'a different questicn

is presented when the criminal
design originates with the
officials of the Covernment,

and they implant in the mind

of an innocent person the
disposition to commit the
alleged offense and induce its
commission in order that they
may prosecute’. 287 US, at 442.
Then stealth and strategy become
as objectionable police methods
as the coerced confession and
the unlawful search. Congress
could not have intended that its
statutes were to be enforced by
tempting innccent nersons into
violations.

However, the fact that govern-
ment agents ‘merely afford
oppertunities or facilities for
the commission of the offense
does not' constitute entrapment.
Entrapment occurs only when the
criminal conduct was ‘the pro-
duct cf the creative activity' of
law-enforcement cfficials.....

To determine whether entrapment
has been established, a line must
be drawn between the trap for the
unwary innccent and the trap for !
the unwary criminal. The princi-
ples by which the courts are to
make this determination were out-
lined in Sorrells. On the one
hand, at trial the accused may
examine the conduct of the govern-
ment agent; and on the other hand,
the accused will be subjected to
an ’'appropriate and searching
inquiry into his own conduct ang
predisposition’ as bearing on his
claim of innocence."

Apzrt from the fact that there is no precedent that the

defence of entrapment was recognized in our system, the

application of the defence as in the U.S.A. jurisdiction is

not free from difficulties and imbalance.

First, it draws a

( | distinction between the trapper being a peliceman or officer

of Covernment and a private citizen when, as far as the

defendant was concerned, the distinction would generally be

unknown to him at the material tiwe.

Lo s




~

Secondly, the defence is available teo the head of
a drug trafficking syndicate whe is charged for the first
time but unavailable to the small pusher ‘who kas & predis-
position’.

Thirdly, from the decisions, the questiicon seems to be
treated as one of law for the judge and not of fact for the
jury. The effect is to rule the witness incompeteat anc his
evidenCe inadmissible.

Not even in Canada, (Mr. Grant's next poxt of call)
where U.S. influence is strong, has "entranment” basn accepted
as a defence.

There, in R. v. Shinley (i970) 2 O.R. at n. 411:

-

"The accused was charged with trafficking in
narcotics and at the trial moved to stay the
proceedings on the ground that he was 1uduced
by an undercover officer o copmit “he off
Evidence was given by the undercover
at the preliminary hearing to the eff
he had not developed a relationship
accused for the purpose of catching
the act of trafficking. His primary Lerast
was in finding out who the accusedts supn!
were going to be as he felt that the zccused
was not a supplier himself. Held, ;ae pro-
ceedings should be StlY@u« The acca would
not have indulged in the offence wi £ the
inducements held cut by the o7 o0 el 10
would be unfair to this accused amd ain abuse
of the process of the Court to allow the pv
secution tc continue.”

In making the order, County Court Judge Mchndrew founded

his jurisdiction on a similar order in R. v. Osa orn {1 965) 1

0.R. 152 and (1969) 4 C.C.C. 185:

"In that case¢ the accused was acquitied on

a charge of having possession of checucs
intended to be used to commit forgery. Sub-
sequent to that the accused was indicted on
a charge of conspiring with other nerson ox
persons to commit an indictable off i
uttering the same seven forged chegucs
Counsel for the accused urged the tvial Judge
to exercise his discretion to stay tie indict
@ment on the ground that the proceelings were
oppressive and an abuse cf the process of the
Court.™
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The circumstances in the Tsborn case are manifestly

different from those in Shipley. 1In the former,

H

the rrose-
cution was vexatious, berdering on persecution. It is
unlikely that the Court in the Osborn case, had in contempla-

tion, the¢ circumstances in B. v. Shipley (supra). A stay of

proceedings is not a final determination of the case. It
seems to us that the principle expressed in the maxim “interest
rei publicae ut sit finis litium" is more applicable to criminal
cases, than any other tyne of litigation. It is not only in the
interest of the Stete but also of the person charged,; that there
should be a final determination. While the jurisdicticnu of the
Court to nrevent the Crown from nresenting its case is debateable,
we would not, in any event, advocate such a course, e¢specially in
relation to serious criminal offences.

From Canada, we were taken to Northern Ireland and the

case of R. v, Murphy (1965) H.I. (which was considercd in

X. v. Sang (post)). And from Ireland to the antipodes: R. v.
Canner (1974) 1 N.Z.L.R. 411 the headnote of which reads:

"This was an attempt tc persuade the Court of
Apreal to lay down a positive rule of law
excluding evidence unfairly chtained by a
peolice officer or the evidence of a police
officer who has insticated the commissicn of
an offence by an accused.™

In delivering the judgment of the Court of Appeal,
McCarthy P. said at p. 414:

“"Let us say quite nlainly that in this
country a trial Judge dces have that
overriding discretion. It has been
recognised in a long series of rulings
extending over a number of areasocf the

law of evidence. It may well be that

there is some doubt in England as tc

the extent to which the discretion applics
in circumstances where the evicence has
been obtained by a police officer who acted
unfairly or instigated the offence. It is
apparent that some in that country take the
view that probative evidence cannot be
excluded for such reasons, though they are
important on penalty. Tor examnie, see

R. v. dMealey [The Times, 30 July 1974}.

o1
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"However, in this country we have not
hesitated to develop the use of this discre-.
tion, and we think that that it is a
desirable attitude . To deny the discreticn
would be to take away something which acts
very much in the intercests of accused persons.”
And later, guoting with aporoval frem the unrepcorted case, R. v.

e i

O'Shannessy, 8th October 1973, the following at p. 414:

"This Court has been most anxious not to
restrict this discretion reposing in thc
trial Judge. Indeed the well known residual
discretion to exclude evidence on this and on
other grounds has always received support and
encouragement here. We have thought it
preferable to Jdeal with questions touching the
acceptance or rejection cf such evidence om
the basis of discretion rather than to lay
down rigid delineations of areas of admission
or exclusion.”

Mr. (rant then referred to the Australian case - Bunning
v. Cress (1978) 19 A.L.R. 641. ITn the judgment in that casc,
the Figh Court of Australia stated the proposition as summarised
in the headnote thus at =, 942

"The statement in R. v. Ireland (1970) 126

- C.L.R. 321 at 335; [19707 ALR 727 at 735,
affirmed in Merchaat v. R. (1971') 126 CLRE 414;
[1971] ALR 736, revnresents the law in
Australia, that is to say: 'Whenever such
unlawfulness or unfairness appears, the judge
has a discretion o reject the evidence. FLke
must consider its excercise. In the exercise
of it, the competing public requirements must
be considered and weighed against <ach other.
Cn the one hand there is the public need to
bring to conviction those who commit criminal
offences. On the other hand is the public
interest in thc »rotection of the individual
from unlawful and unfair treatment. Convicticns
cbtained by the aid of unlawful or unfair acts
may be obtained at too high 2 price. Hence the
judicial discretion®.™

OQur zttention was also drawn to the Chanaian case of

Ahenkora v. The Republic (1968) at p. 625, a decision of the

High Court where in dismissing the appeal it was held:

"It was unlawful for a police officer to trep
a person, nrovoke a crime or commit an cffence
in order that an offence by ancther might be
detected. But it was not unlawful for the
police to feign participation in a crime in
crder to observe and cbtain evidence. The
evidence here did not establish that the
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"'senior officer trapped the appellant or
committed an offence in order to detect zn
nffence. What the officer did amounted to
feilgning participation in the crime in order
to observe and obtair evidence.”

The principle was similarly stated in the Migerian case

~

of Ceorge Diamantides v. Chief Inspector of Mines (1950) 13

e

J.ALC.A. 94,

The common factual basis for the application of the
principle in all these Lommonwealth jurisdictions tc which cur
attention was adverted, was that the agent provocateur as
policemen or other public law enforcement officers instigeted
or incited the commission ¢f the offence for which the defendant
was charged.

In the instant case, the evidence falls far short of
providing any such basis. From the beginning, Sterling was the
promoter of the venture and the plans were laid nut by himself
and his asscciates. The witnesses Cammarato and Moon were as
describe® in the Ahenkora case, "feigning participation in the
crire in order to observe and cbtain evidence.” In that regard,
the learned Resident Magistrate puts it this way:

§

"In so far as Cammarato and Moon are concerned
I find that their modus operandi is the
recognised way in which spies or agent provo-
cateurs operate in order to detect offences
which it is otherwise impossible or difficult
to detect."”

Motwithstanding our apnroval of this finding, we feel
constrained to deal with the wider question whether or not a
judge or magistrate has z discretion to exclude the evidence cof
an agent provocateur.

In R. v. Sang, (1979) 2 All E.R. at p. 1222, the facts

were summarised in the headnote:

"The appellant was charged with conspiring
with others to utter forged lnitel States
banknotes. On his arraipgnment he pleaded
not guilty to the charge. Before the case
for the Crown was opened, counsel for the
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“"appellant applied to the court to hold a
trial within a trial in order that it might
consider whether the involvement of' the
appellant in the offence charged arose out of
the activities of an agent provocateur. He
said that he hoped at such trial to establish,
by cross-examination of a police officer and
by evidence-in-chief from an alleged police
informer, that the apwellant had been induced
to commit the offence by an informer acting

on the instructions of the police and that but
for such versuasion the appellant wculd not
have committed the offence. Counsel then
hoped to persuade the judge to rule, in the
exercise of his discretion, that the Crown
should not be allowed to lead any evidence of
the commission of the offence thus incited,
and to direct that a verdict of not guilty be
returned., Without hearing the evidence, the
judge ruled that he had no discreticn to
exclude the evidence. The appellant retracted
his »nlea of not guilty, pleaded guilty and was
sentenced to a term of imprisonment. His appeal
against the judge's ruling was dismissed by the
Court of Appeal.”

On appenl to the House cf Lords, the Court certified for
consideraticn the following broad question at p. 12Z5:

"Does a trial judge have a discretion to

refuse to allow evidence, being evidence other
than evidence of admission, to be given in any
circumstances in which such evidence is relevant
and of morc than minimal preobative value?

Eefore dealing with this gquestion, Lord Diplock gave his
opinion on the narrower point ¢f law on which the appeal turneld,
namely whether or not the defence of entrapment is known <o
English Law thus at p, 1226:

"Before turning to that wider question however,

I will deal with the narrower pcint cf law on
which this appeal actually turns. I can do s¢
briefly. The Jdecisions in R. v. #cEvilly, R. v.
Lee [1973]) 60 Cr. App. R. 150 and R. v. NMealey,
R. v. Sheridan [1974] 60 Cr. App R. 59 that thére
is no defence of ‘entrapment’ known to English
law are clearly right. Many crimes are committed
by one person at the instigation of others. Fronm
carliest times at common law those who counsel and
procure the commission of the offence by the
person by whom the actus reus itself is done have
been guilty themselves of an offence, and since
the abolition by the Criminal Law Act 15&7
Section 1(1) of the distinction between felcnies
and misdemeanours can be tried, indicted and
punished as principal offenders. The fact that
the counsellor and procurer is a policeman or o
police infermer, although it may be of rclevance
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"in mitigation of penalty for the offence,
cannot a“fect the guilt of the principal
offender; both the ohysical element {actus

reus) and the mental element (mens

rea) of

the offence with which he is charged are

present in his case.

My Lerds, this being the substantive law on

the matter, the suggestion that it

can be

e¢vaded by the procedural device of vreventing
the orosecution from adducing evidence of the
commission of the cffeuce, dres not bear

examination.”

He then comnsidered the fcollowing cases in which. there

were dicta suggestive of a discretion - Brannan v, Yecek (1947)

2 AYY TR, 572

, Browaing v. J.¥W.F, Watson (Rochester) Ltd. (1953)

2 All E.R. 775, and &neddon v. Stevenscn (1967) 2

and after commenting on the snemalous position of

JALI.]. EuR\.n 1277V

the “agistrates

having heard evidence which convinced them of the puilt of the

accused, would then be called upon to vrevent the prosecution

from relving o

1 that evidence continued at p. 1227:

"Where the accused is charged on indictment
and there is a wnractical distinctior between
the trial and a trial within a trial, th:
pesiticn, as it seems to me, would be even
nore anomalous if the judge were to have 2
discretion to prevent the nrosecution frow
adducing evidence before the jury to wrove
the comnission of the nffence by the accused.
1f he exercised the discretion in favour of
the accused he would then have to direct the
jury to acauit. Fow does this difrer. from
recognising eniropment as a defence, but a
defence for which tae necessary factual
foundaticn is to be found net by the jury but
by the judge and even vhere the factuzal
foundation is so fouud the defence is available
only at the judge's discretisn.

My Lords, this submission gones far beyond a
claiw to a judicial discretion to exclude
evidence that has been obtained unfairiy or by
trickery: nor in any of the Funglish cases on
agents nrevecateurs that have come before
appellate €ourts has it been suggested that it
exists., “hat it really involves 1s a claim to

a judicial discretion to acquit an accused of any
offences in connection with which the conduct of
the »nnlice incurs the disanproval of the judge.
The conduct of the police where it has involved
the use of an agent provocateur may well be a
matter to be taken iato c¢onsideration in mitiga-
tion of sentence: but under the English svystem
of criminal justice it does nct gzive rise to any
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“discreticn on the part of the judge

himself to acquit the accused or te

divect

the jury to dc so, nctwithstanding that he

is guilty of the cffence. Neverthele

ess the

existence of such ~ discretion to exclude
the evidence of an azeat provocateur dees

appear to have been ackncwla?qed by

the

Courtc Martial Appeal Court of Nerthern

ireland in B, v, furphy [1965] N.I

138.

That was befnre the rejecticn of fentran-
ment’' as a defence bv the Court of “np\a‘

in England: and Leord Helermott C.J.

in

delivering the judﬂwent of the court relied

}).‘.l

on the dicta as to t“& existence of

a wide

discretion which annesred in cases that did

not involve an agcni pruvocaceuru 1

n the

result he held that the court-martial had
been richt in exorcising its discretioca in

such a way as to admit the evidence.

I understand yeur Lardships to be agreed
that whatever b: the ambit of the judicial

discretion to exclude admissible ovi

it does not extend to excluding evid

a crime becouse the crime wos instig

dence
ance of
ated by

an agent orovocateur, In sofar as K. v,

Murphy suggests the contrary it shou

longer bn regarded as zond law.”

1d o

Scme six years before the decision in Sang, in R. v,

Arncugh (1973) 12 J.L.R. 1179 this Court had to con

the evidence of an agent provocateur should have been

sider whether

excluded

by the Resident Magistrate. The arguments on behalf c¢f the

appellant were in pith and substance similar to tho
Mr. Crant befcre us in the instant case. The facts
were summarised thus, at p. 1170:

"A law enforcement officer, J.F. cal

se raised by

in Arnough

led at the

bome of one S.B. where he met the anpellant.

The appellant told J.F. that he had
for sale. Later the same day J.F. r

hashish
cturned

to S.B.'s home with two empty suitcases.

After they were packed with hashish
asked the appellant for some ‘grass’

J.
(zanja)

The appellant left and returned with 2 paper

bag with ganja which was placed in

e of the

suitcases. Fe asked J.F. how and when he

wanted the suitcases delivered. J.F.

told him

that they should be delivered at the parking

15t at the Mahoe Bay Club at 9 p.m.

The

appellant was seen to drive 2 car into the
parking lot and parked it shortly after 9 p.m.
He got out of the car, opened the trunk and
removed a suitcase which was later discovered

to contain a paver bag with ganja.'




In delivering the judgment of the Court, Smith J.A.

concisely set out the arguments of the appellant’s counsel at

p. 1172

"It was submitted that Fortier instigated,
incited, encouraged and procured the
commission of the offences for which the
appellant was convicted and that his evidence
should, therefore, have been excluded on the
ground of public pnolicy. It was said that

‘no one, whether law enforcement officer or
otherwise, can be allowed to procure and
commit a crime in order to purport to solve
the said crime to which he is particeps
criminis’ This submission was based on the
well known and oft cited passage in Brannan v.
Peek (supra) where Lord Goddard, C.J., said
that 'it is wholly wrong for a no]1ce officer
or any other person to be sent to commit an
offence in order that an offence by another
person may be detected. Alternatively it was
submitted that if the ev1dence was strictly
admissibie under the rule in Kuruma v. X.
[1855] 1 Al11 E.®. 23%6 then it ought not to
have been admitted as it was obtained by means
in the category of ‘'trick, deception or fraud’
under the principles in Callis v. Cunn [1563]
3 A11 E.R. 677 and R, v, Payne [ 1953] 1 All
E.R. 848. In the further alternative, it was
subnitted that Fortier's evidence was that of

an accomplice and cught to have been corroborated.

It was contended that if, as Lord Goddard said in
£rannan v, Peek (supra), it is wholly wrong for
a police officer to commit an offence in order to
detect an offence by amother then it must nave as
a result either the inadmissibility of the
evidence or its exclusion by the court. Thecuch
this can, perhaps, be said to be a logical
de&uctlon from Lord Coddard's statement, the fact
is that the court in Brannan v. Peck (buﬂr 1) did

not hold that the evidénce 1n that casc was @ither

inadmissible or should have been excluded. No case
has been cited to us, and we know of none, in which

< T

the evidence of a police spy or an agent provoca-
teur has been held to be inadmissible or has been
excluded applying the statement in Brannan v Peek

(susra).™

The comments made by Lord Parker in Sneddon v. Stevenson

(supra) on the dicta in Brannan v. Peek (sunra) was quoted with

evident approval. Smith J.A. then considered the facts and

pertinent dicta in R. v. Murphy (supra) and continued at pp.

1173-4

°
o
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"The Courts-Martial Appeal Court in its
decision in K. v. Murphy (supra) was simply
restating the principles stated in Kuruma v.
R. (supra) and followed in many cases since
Tsee e.g. King v. R. (supra)). It is the
effective answer tc the first submission made
on behalf of the anpellant. The most that can
can be said of the evidence of a police spy

or of a police officer who incites or
encourages the commission of an offence in
order to obtain evidence of its commission is
that the evidence is illegally or improperly
obtained. The authorities establish that

this does not render the evidence inadmissible.”

The judgment then went on to deal with the alternative
suggestion that there was massive trick and deception and on
this concluded thus at p. 1174:

"The only trick, deception or false
representation we were able to detect (since
none was specifically identified during the
argument) was that Fortier represented him-
self as a foreigner who was interested in,
and willing to buy, hashish and ganja. We do
not think that this is the sort of trick or
false representation which was intended to be
referred to in the cases relied on. This 1is
the reccgnised way in which spies or agents
provocateurs operate in order to detect
offences which it is ctherwise impossihle or
difficult to detect.”

In our view the recognition of a general discretion in a
Judge or Magistrate tc exclude the evidence of ar agent provo-
cateur would implicitly confer a jurisdiction to obliquely

declare an agent provocateur an incompetent witness:; a power

which a Court does not possess in relation to an accumplice who,

the prosecution having elected not to treat as co-defendant by
either having the casc against him withdrawn or determined by
verdict and sentence, is presented as a witness for the
prosecution. In the case of accomplice witness, the Judge can
do no more tharn advert to the dangers of relying on uncorro-

borated testimony.

I R, v. Karrer & Others (1970) 11 J.L.R. at p. 509, this

Court noted the incidence of drug cffences in the Montego Bay

area and we cannot ignore the increasing incidence of drug
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trafficking in this jurisdiction since that time. The traffic
in narcotics is just one type of illegal venture that demands
silence and secrecy between »narticipants. Therefore investi-
gation and detection in such criminal enterprises would be
well nigh impossible without agent provocateurs. Accoxrdingly,
we are firmly of the view that precedent and the practicalities
are against the recognition of any discretion in a Jjudge or
Magistrate to exclude the evidence of an agent provocateur.

As to the credit of the witnesses Cammarato and Mocn the

following ground was argued:

"That the Learncd Resident Magistrate paid
scant attention to cne of the fundamentals of
our Court procedure as a condition srecedent
tc the reception of evidence - namely the
meaning and value of an Oath.

That the witness Cameratta admitted, inter
aiia, to being a trained liar, and aperson
trained to give evidence and to appear
sincerc. Further tnat no one could tell in
such a situation when he was lying: that
thouch he did say, he would lie at any time
in the ianterest and expedience of his job, he
said he would nct lie under Oath; and then
proceded to admit that for the purposes of
what he considered just and in the interest
of his job, he would lie before God and
against his Roman Catholic Faith.

That the witness Moon also admitted to being
one of this new species of nrofessional liars
and evidence-givers and that he would also lie
in order to carry cut his job - and that giving
evidence in Court was part of that job.

That it is submitted, in the light of the
foregoing, the svidence, if it could not be
struck from the record, should have been
entirely excluded from consideration. As it
clearly shows that the significance of an Oath
and the respect for truth based thereon had
become no longey an objective cbligation, but

a matter for subjective interpretation for minds
such as these in the interests of their concept
of a "higher morality®."

In suppert of this ground we were adverted to certain statements
made by these witnesses ir cross-examination. Both witnesses admitted that

they were capable of falsehoods, an ability possessed by all mankind, and
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that as undercéver acents they were trainea to deceive. Fowever,
the question for the learned Resident Magistrate was whether they
lied in the¢ evidence thev gave. He saw and heard them. No doubt
he wns imoressed by their graphic description of the meeting at
Dunkley's home at Ironshore, the details of the plan to exgort
gania and of the expedition of January 4 which was obviously in
keepins with the pre-arranged plan. Further, as his notes reveal
he considered the evidence disclosed by the tapes and the
identification of the occasions and the voices recorded on those
tapes as given by the witnesses. Accordingly, the Resident
Magistrate’s acceptance of Cammarato and Moon as witnesses of
truth was fundamentally reasonable.

Dr. David Lee, the Covernment Analyst was another witness
whose credit was extensively attacked. Dr. lee, a Ph.D. in
Chemistry (University of the West Indies) and who had been 2an
Analyst for four vears at the Scientific Research Council gave
evidence to the effect that on January 21, 1985 he attended at
the Narcotics Division at Spanish Town Road, and there a number
of packages were presented to him by Corporal Lawrence. There
he marke” and weighed the packages, and caused samples tc be
taken in his presence. Refreshing his memory from notes made
at the time by his assistant, a Mr. Coates, he¢ said there were
one hundred and ninety-one nackages, of total weight 4,286 kilo-
grams or 9,448 1lbs. 8 ozs., the average weight of each wpackage
being roughly 50 1bs. Fron tests, which he supervised, he came
to the conclusion that the =lant matter in each sample was the
plant cannabis sativa from which the resin has not been extracted,
The envelopes containing the samples were tendered in evidence
as also the certificate of his findings. In the course of
lengthy cross-examination he admitted that although he was
nresent at the taking of the samples he did not ‘'supervise it in

an over-the-shoulder way*., His initial cf the particulars

6\
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indicated he had satisfied himself that the procedure for the
sampling process had been follewed and completed and tho
description corresponded with the exhibits. He admitted that
other staff under his supervision assisted.

As regards the testing of the exhibits he said that a
menber of staff would take out each sample and do the requisite
examination and satisfy himself or herself as to the identity
of the samples. If he was present he would be in the area of
the laboratory or in his office which was adjacent. He was asked
the specific question: "IMid you satisfy yourself in this case
in relation tc the one hundred and ninety-one samples as to the
result of the test?” Answer: "I was satisfied as to the results.
I supervised the tests - I would have seen the sample taken cut
and examined under a microscope and chemical test done. I then
instructed all samples be so tested.” FHe did not consider it
necessary to be present every mcment in the working of gualified
staff.

Netwithstanding his answers, counsel for the crown made
an applicaticn that Dr. Lee personally examine and test the
samples without delegating duty to anyone. Objectionsby defence
counsel viere taken to the application. The adjournment of the
3rd of July, 1985 was taken and on the 8th of July the Court ruled
that Dr. Lee be recalled. He then gave evidence of taking the one
hundred and ninety-one envelopes with the samples which he received
from the Court and perscnally performing the tests. e came to the
same conclusion as in his examination-in-chief, namely that the
vezetable matter in each envelope was ganja.

The Court's ruling was chalienped on appeal under the

following grounds:

“That the evidenc¢ of Dr. Lee, the Government
Analyst, failed to prove the nature of the
substance exhibited, after examination, cross-
examination ans re-examination. Whereupon the
Learned Resident Magistrate upon the application
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"of the Crown (strongly resisted) ordered
that the Exhibits be given back to and taken
out of the Court’s custody by the said
Analyst to re-investicate by way of tests
and for the said Analyst to be re-called to
give evidence on the identical point in a
second atterpt to vrove for the first time
an essential and elementary ingredient of
the Crown's case.”

it was submitted:

(1) That in so doing in effect the
appellants were deprived of their
rights to submit at a later stage
that the crown had failed tc make out
a case against them.

(i) That the Resident Magistrate
avpointed himself investigator and
prosecutor.

(1i1) That the Resident Mapgistrate exceeded
his statutory powers conferred on hin
in the Swecial Statutory Summary
Jurisdiction in which the offences
were triable., That the power to make
such an order conferred by Secticn
278 of the Judicature (Resident
Magistrates) Act, in reiation to
indictable offences was not applicable
tc summary trials.

Mr. Ramsay argued that the prosecution was given an
opportunity to “'scout about for evidence to strengthen their

case' - Royal v. Prescott (1966) 2 All E.R. 369,

Now Section 278 of the Judicature (Resident Magistrates)
Act merely conferred general nowers of amendment and adjournment
in indictable matters. These powers were neither in conflict nor
prejudicial to the general powers of adjournment and amendment
conferred by Sections 169 and 190 of the same Act.

In Royal v. Prescott-Clarke et al (supra) the defendants

were charged on informations for breaches of the motorways Traffic
Regulations 1959. Although the defence had intimated that he
would require precof of certain relevant regulations and nctices,
no such evidence was given by the prosecution. At the conclusion
of the case the iustices accepted a submission by counscl for

the cefence that the prosecution had failed to prove the notices.
In the course of counsel'’s submission the prosecution applied for

an adjournment to enable the regulation and notices to be proved.
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On appecal against the refusal of the application and
dismissal of the informations, it was held that:

"It was a matter for the justices' discretion,
as in other cases where the circumstances

were not peculiar and special, whether or not
to grant the application; but as the adjourn-
ment applied for was tc establish by pro-
duction of further evidence something which was
only a formal requireient which had to be
satisfied, the discretion had been wrongly
exercised."

In R. v, Kenneth Codner (1955) 6 J.L.R. 339 the appellant

was charged with cultivating ganja and having ganja in his
possession, Vhen the cases came on for trial Mr. Kirby, the
Government Chemist, who was called to give evidence that the
plants were ganja apparently not having personally made the
analysis admitted in cross-examnination that he did not cof his
own knowledge know whether or not the resin had been extracted
from the stalks. The trial was then adjourned to enable the
Deputy Government Chemist, Mr. Walsh, who made the tests to be
called. At the adjourned hearing Walsh stated that the plants
were cannabis sativa and that the law defined ganja as including
cannabis sativa from which the resin has not been extracted. He
was cross-examined as to the nature of the test he made. When
the Clerk of Courts closed his case, the solicitor for the
appellant submitted that there was no evidence that the stalks
were ganja as thHe evidence did not satisfy the definition in the
law. The Clerk then applied for and obtained leave to recall
Mr. Walsh. The application was granted and Walsh supplied the
missing essential factor, namely, that his tests disclosed resin
in the stalks and that he had to extract the resin toc make the
tests.

On appeal, it was argued that the learned Resident
Magistrate was wrong in giving permission to re-open the case to

osrove material facts after the prosecution’s case was closed. In giving

9
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the judgment of the Court, MacGregor J, after considering a
number of English Authorities, concluded:
"In the present case, we are satisfied that
the learned Resident Magistrate was
entitled to cive leave for the case to be
re-opened to supply the evidence which had
been omitted and we cannot say, and in fact
it has not been argued that he failed to
exercise it judicially.”

In the instant case, the witness was still open to re-
examination when the application was made. Counsel for the
prosecution despite Lee's evidence as to supervision was
desirous of the tests being personally made by him. The tests
could not then be done as facilities were apparently not there in
Court and as the samples were now in cutodia legis, a fermal order
for their release to enable the witness to make the tests was
essential. Dr. Lee was further cross-examined by the defence
after he gave evidence concerning the tests which he had
personally performed. Counsel for the defence in categorising
the grant of the application of the prosecution as providing an
opportunity “to scout” around fcr further evidence was putting
the matter ton highly. 1In the exercise of his discretion and in
pursuit of truth and justice, the learned Resident Magistrate
cranted the application of the prosecution. In the circumstances,
we are unable tc say that the discretion was not judicially
exercised and having regard tc the nature and conduct of the
defence we are of the view that no unfairness or prcjudice was
occasioned thereby.

As to the probative value of Dr. Lee's evidence, it was
submitted that his evidence still fell short of the proof required
by the Dangerous Urugs Act, in that (i) he denied expertise 1in
the area of taxoncomy of plants, and (ii) in the area of his

expertise he failed to make the one necessary test, i.c¢. for the

chemical compound (T.E.C.) indicative of the plant cannabis sativa.
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Now in his evidence concerning the tests personally

carried out by him Dr. Lee said:

"Portions of each envelope, the contents

thereof were examined under microscope for

presence of certain characteristic features

of certain plant, that is cannabis sativa.

As a result of examination and tests I came

to the conclusion that each and every

envelope contained parts of the plant

cannabis sativa and that the resin was not

extracted therefrom. I concluded that the

vegetable matter contained in each envelope

was ganja."
In cross-examination he said he was not a qualified botanist.
Under the microscope he locked for certain types of hair giving
a wasting appearance to parts of the plant. He also loocked for
seceds which have a mottled appearance. He was not a taxoncmist.
He did not know the difference between cannabis sativa and cannabis
indica. He did the standard test for the purpose of detecting the
resin. T.H.C. is one of the ingredients in the resin. Faving
detected certain characteristics microsconically, he went on to
do the chemical test. He had been carrying out tests in respect
to the cannabis sativa for eight years - about three hundred and
fifty to four hundred such tests per year.

Now gania is not in Jamaica a rare exotic plant. Dr. Lee
has had many years experience in testing for ganja. It is there-
fore enough to say that there was sufficient credible evidence to
establish beyond reasonable doubt that the one hundred and ninety-
one packages contained ganja.

Further, it was suggested that Dr. Lee was discredited in
relation to his evidence that on the 21st of January, 1985, he was
present at the Narcotics Office on Spanish Town Road when samples
were being taken. The defence called HMr. Robin Smith, Attorney-
at-Law, who gave evidence to the effect that at 10:30 a.m. that

day when according to the crown Dr. Lee received the samples, he,

Dr. Lec was in fact at the Supreme Court Building.
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Finally, that the Resident Magistrate erred in finding
that the samples personally tested by Dr. Lee were the said
samples taken at the Narcotics Office.

The learned Resident Magistrate as he was entitled to
do, accepted the evidence of the prosecution witnesses Lee and
Corporal Lawrence, that Lee attended at the Narcotics Office on
the 21st of January 1985, and tock samples or supervised the
taking of samplcs from each of the one hundred and ninety-one
packages and weighed the packages.

Of Robin Smith's evidence he had this to say:

""The evidence of Robin Smith is viewed with

suspicion as at no time was it suggested to

Dr. Lee that at the time he said he took the

samples he was at the Supreme Court. In any

event, the times given by both the witnesses

Smith and Dr. Lee are approximations."”
These findings of fact were based on the acceptance of nral
testimony and there seems no pood reason for interference by this
Court,

On behalf of Sterling and Dunkley, it was submitted
that the learred Resident Magistrate fell into error by convicting
Dunkley and Sterling «n the basis of constructive possession, and
the other ten accused on the basis efpctual possession of the
same articles; further, that no doctrine of constructive
possessicn in relation to gania exists in Jamaica since the Privy

Council's decisinon in D.P.P. v. Wishart Brooks (1974) 12 J.L.R.

1374. 1In any event, argued Mr.. Ramsay, the doctrine of con-

structive possession as laid down and illustrated in R, v.

Cavendish (1961) 2 All E.R. 856, was not applicable to the facts

and circumstances of the instant case. Further, since Sterling
and Dunkley could not be guilty of possession, equally they could
not be guilty of any other charge which would involve possession
as an essential ingredient. In that regard the ingredients of

attempting to export and dealing in gania were not made out
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against Sterling and Dunkley. MNr. Ramsay sought support and

comfort for his submissions in dicta from R. v. Collins et =zl

9 Cox 497: and Kaughton v. Smith (1973) 3 All E.R. 1120.

Mr. Ramsay argued that having acquitted the ten appellants on

the charge of dealing there was no basis upon which Sterling

and Dunkley could be convicted. If there is no link between

the ten and the appellants in relation teo the dealing, it would
be contradictory to hold there was a link in relation to the
vtner charpges. If the Resident lagzistrate'’s finding of dealing
was on the basis of the discussion at the alleged mceting at
Ironshore on the 13th of December, 1984, that is nct the date
charged in the Information, and it therefore follows, argued

Mr. Ramsay, that Dunkley and Sterling have been charged with
others whose offences occurred in January 1985 - and that as
dealing includes delivery then the personswho engaged in delivery
must be puilty of dealing, uniess there is no common design
between that person and the dealer. We interpret this last
submissicn to mean in effect that the convictions of Sterling and
Dunkley of dezaling in gania were inconsistent in the circuastances
with the accuittal of the others.

In veply, Mr. Andrade submitted that the legal basis for
the joint charges depended upon the role of Sterling and Dunkley.
Their role was to provide ganja for export. 1In order to carry out
their objective and in keeping with arrangements made with
Cammaratco, it was necessary to procure the others to obtain the
oania aad this they did. That was the inescapable inference to
be drawn from the totality of the evidence. 1f that is so,
Sterling and Dunkley fell scuarely within Section 6 of the Justices
of the Peace Jurisdiction Act. They were counsellors and procurers

and were jointly charged with the principal offenders. WMr. Andrade

submitted that in the alternative, Dunkley and Sterling were 1in

i
constructive possession, as the ganja came to be where it was by |




S e

-41-

arrangement - R, v. Cavendish (supra). Further, with respect

to the charsge of attemnting to export, the evidence fell

sauarely within the 3rd catesory defined in R. v. Donnelly (197C)

N.Z,L.R. 960-1,

In reply Mr. Ramsay submitted that in relation to
attempt the criwe was incapable of commission in the circumstances
and accordingly none of the accused should have been charped

therewith. Ye relied on R. v. Donnelly (1970) N.Z.L.R. 980, and

Faughton v. Smith (1970) 3 Al1l E.R., 1109,

Now in D.P.P. v. Erooks (supra) the appellant was charged

with possession of ganja. A van of which the defendant was the
driver, was seen by police officers parked with its engine
running near an air-strip. On the approach of the police who
were in uniform the appellant ran. Fe was caught. In the body
of the van were nineteen sacks containing a larse quantity of
ganja. When asked by a police officer why he ran he said that a
man named Reid had emploved him to drive the van. Reid had taken
the van and returned it to him laden and asked him to drive it to
the air-strip. On appeal this Court [ Luckhoo, Smith and Graham-
Perkins JJ.A.] based upon an erroneous interpretation of the

earlier case of R. v. Livingston (1%52) 6 J.L.R, 95 at p. 1374,

held that Brooks was not "......shown to have anything more than
mere custody or charge of the van and its contents and that this
was not enough to constitute 'possession' * - in that he was in
charge of the van in the capacity as servant of Reid. On further
appeal, Lord Diplock giving the opinien of the Board and reversing
the Court of Appeal said at p. 1376:

“In the ordinary use of the word ‘possession’

one has in one's possession whatever is to

one's own knowledge nphysically in one's custody
or under one's physical control."
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And later at p. 1377:
“"The only actus reus required to constitute
an offence under Section 7 (c) is that the
dangerous drug should be physically in the
custody or under the control of the accused.”
Thesec statements must be interpreted against the back-
+
ground of the guestions raised on appeal. The doctrine of
constructive possession was never in contemplaticn. In our
view these statements are not incompatible with the doctrine

of constructive possession as laid down in R. v. Cavendish (supra).

Fowever, although Mr. f.drade argued as an altcrnative
the doctrine of constructive sossession, his support for the
convictions rested primarily on the provisions of Section 6 of
the Justices of the Peace Jurisdiction Act which reads:

"Every person who shall aid, abet, counse¢l

or procurec the commission of the offence

which is or hereafter shall be punishable

on summary conviction, shall be liable to be

proceeded against and convicted for the same,

either together with the principal offenier

or before or after his conviction, and shall

be liable, on conviction, to the same for-

feiture and punishment as such principal

offender is or shall be liable and may be

proceeded against and convicted either in

the parish where such principal offender may

be convicted or that in which such offence

of aiding, abetting, counselling or pro-

curing may have been cormitted.
In our view these provisions are sufficiently wide to embrace
persons, who, in relation to felonies, bteing absent when the
crime was perpetrated, would be accessories before the fact as
well as those present aiding or encouraging by word and deed
and would be principals in the second degree. The previsions, in
our view, were clearly aimed at extending to summary offences the

nrocedure, practice and punishment of such secondary parties as

is the case 1in i1ndictable misdemeanours - see the comparative
provisions of Section 31 of the Criminal Justice Administration

Act.
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We accept the following useful definition of *“procure"”
in Section & of the Accessories and Abettors Act (England) which
is ipsissima verba with Section 41 of the Jamaican Criminal
Justice Administration Act as awplicable to "procure’ in Section
5 of the Justices of the Peace Jurisdiction Act (supra):

"To procure means to produce by endeavour.
You procure a thing by setting out to see
that it happens and taking appropriate steps
to produce that hapnening. We think that
there are plenty of instances in which a
person may be said to procure the commission
of a crime by another even though there is
no sort of conspiracy between the two, even
though there is no attempt at agreement or
discussion as to the form which the offence
should take"™ - A C.'s Reference (No. 1 of
1975) (1975) 2 AIT E.R. 684 per cur. at p. 686,

In the instant case, there was ample evidence to support

the finding that the expedition on the night of January 4, 1985
by the ten other appellants, including the ""link man’ Craigie,
was an endeavour to carry out the plan as designed by appellants
Sterling and Durnkley at Ironshcore on December 13, 1984, and the
rational conclusion that both Sterling and Dunkley were guilty
as accessories within the contemplation of Section 6 of the
Justices of the Peace Jurisdiction Act.

with reference to the alternative argument based upon
constructive possession, as there was no evidence that the boats
were owned or in the possession of Sterling or Dunkley or that
the ganja was ever on premises belonging to thewm, the doctrine
of constructive pnossession in cur view would be inapplicable to
make Sterling and Dunkley principal possessors.

With reference to Mr. Ramsay's submission that the
convicticn of Sterling and Dunkley was inconsistent with the
acquittal of the others, it is enough to say that "the dealing®
in the instant case was the selling of ganja, and that on the
evidence it was open to the Resident Magistrate tc find that the

ten defendants were not a party to the '"deal' between Sterling




and Dunkley with Cammarato. We se¢e no inconsistency in the
verdicts and there was evidence from which the Resident Magistrate
could infer that Sterling and Dunklev were dealing in ganja and
that the attempted export was one instance of such dealing.

With respect to Mr. Ramsay's submission that no offence
for attempting to export ganja could be made out because cof the
impossibility of completion, an examination of the decided cases
reveal a distinction between those cases in which there. is
impossibility of performance because, ab initio, some essential
element was non-existent and those cases where the attempt was

frustrated by some supervening event. R. v. Collins (1g64) 9

Cox 497 is illustrative of the former class. The case was
reserved for the opinion of the Court on the question whether
"supposing a perscn put his hand into the pocket of another for
the purpose of larceny, there being nothing in the pocket, that
is an attempt at larceny?"” In giving the judgment of the Court,
Cockburn, C..J. said at p. 499:

"But, assuming that there is nothing in the
nocket of the prosecutrix, the charge of
attempting to commit larceny cannot be
sustained. .... we think that an attempt to
commit a felony can only be made out when,

if no interruption had taken place, the
attemnt could have bean carried cut success-
fully, and the faslony ccmpleted cof the

attempt to commit which the party is charged.”

In the House of Lords case - Haughton v. Smith (supra)

at p. 1106:

"A quantity of goods was stolen from a firm

in Liverpool. Some days later a van
travelling south was. stopped by the police;
it contained the stolen goods. It transpired
that the van was proceeding to a rendezvous
with the accused in Hertfordshire where the
accused was to make arrangements for the
disposal of the goods in the London areca. In
order to trap the accused the van was allowed
to proceed on its journey with tweo policemen
concealed inside and a disguised policeman
beside the driver. At the rendezvous the van
was met by the accused and at least one other
person and the accused thereupon began to play
a prominent role in nssisting in the disposal




"of the van and its 1oad. Finally, the trap
was sprung and the accused and others were
arrested. The prosecutor was of the opinion
that, once the police had taken charge of the
van, the goods had been restored to lawful
custody, within s. 24 of the Theft Act 1968,
and were, therefore, no longer stolen goods.
Accordingly, the accused was not charged
with handling ‘'stolen uzecods', contrary to

s. 22 of the 1968 Act, but with attempting
to handle stolen goods.

FELD:

A person could only be convicted of an
attempt to commit an offence in circumstances
where the stewns taken by him in order to
commit the offence, if successfully accom-
plished, would have resulted in the
commission of that cffence. A person who
carried out certain acts in the erronecus
belief that those acts constituted an offence
could not be convicted of an atteapt to
commit that offence because he had taken no
steps towards the commission of an offence.
In order to constitute an offence under s. 22
of the 1968 Act the goods had to be stolen
gocds at the time of the handling; it was
irrelevant that the accused believed them to
be stolen goods. It followed that, since

the goods which the accused had handled were
not stolen poods, he could not be convicted
cf attempting to commit the offence of
handling stolen gocds.”

For the offence of receiving stolen gocds (or its modern
Bnglish counterpart "handlins stolern goods') to be committed, at
the time of the receipt ¢®handling the goods must be ''stolen
the

soods'. The moment they came into/possession of the police, they

were no longer 'stolen goods” - R. v. Schmidt L.R. 1 C.C.R. 15.

Accordingly, in Haughton v. Smith (supra) at the time cf receipt

an essential element in the commission of the crime was non-
existent., There was therefore, ab initio, the impossibility of
committing the offence.

In his judgment in Faughton v. Smith, Lord Failsham

quoted at p. 1115 with evident apprcval the followinyg six fold

classification of Turner, J. in R. v. Donnelly (1970) N.Z.L.R, 980:

"Fe who sets out to commit a crimc may in

the event fall short of the complete
commission of that crime for any one of a
number of reasons. First, he may, of course,

N e
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""simply change his mind before committing any

act sufficiently overt to amount to an attempt.
Second, he may change his mind, but toc late to
deny thathe had got so far as an attempt.

Third, he may be prevented by some outside

agency from dolng some act necessary to ccmpiete
commission of the crime - as when a police
~officer interrupts him while he 1Is endeavouring
to torce the window oper, but before he has
broken 1nto the premises. Fourth, he may suffer
no such outside 1interference, but may fail to
complete the commission of the crime through
ineptitude, inefficiency or insufficient means.
The jemmy which he has brought with him may not
be strong enough to force the window open.

¥ifth, he may find that what he is proposing to
do is after all impossible - not because of
insufficiency of means, but because it is for
some reason physically not possible, whatever
means he adopted. He who walks into a room
intending to steal, say a specific diamond ring,
and finds that the ring is no longer there but
has been removed by the owner to the bank, is thus
prevented from committing the crime which he
intended, and which, but for the supervening
physical impossibility imposed by events he would
have committed. Sixth, he may without interrup-
tion efficiently do every act which he set out to
do, but may be saved from criminal liability by
the fact that what he has done, contrary to his
own belief at the time, does not after all amount
in law to a crime.™

[ Emphasis supplied]

Mr. Andrade in reply submitted that the instant case fell
within the third category. Of that category Lord Hailsham had
this to say at p. 1115:

"(3) The third case is more difficult because
as a matter of fact and degree, it will

depend to some extent on the stage at which
the interruption takes place, and the precise
offence the attempt to commit which is the
subject of the charge. In general, however,

a criminal attempt is committed, assuming that
the proximity test is passed.”

In the instant case, we 2re of the opinion that it is
immaterial whether the police intercepted the boats laden with
ganja on the way to the expected illicit drug-running ship, or
the police, on the basis of information they had, substituted
their own disguised vessel. It is an interruption within the
contemplation of the "third category.” On the evidence, the
steps taken by the appellants in the canoes were sufficiently

proximate to the completed offence to constitute an attempt to

export ganja.
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Finally, there was an appeal against sentence in

respect of Sterling, Dunkley and Craigie.

It was submitted

that the custodial sentences in respect of these appellants were

manifestly excessive. In that regard we were asked to consider

(i) that they had no previous convictions,

(ii) that Craigie was

dismissed of the offence of dealing in ganja and (iii) that as

advocated in the Sang case and as was done in R. v. Arnough (supra)

(p. 1175) the custodial sentences should be reduced as there was

a possibility that the appellants were encouraged to commit

offences which they otherwise might not have committed.

The Resident Magistrate imposed the following

""Sterling:

Possession
Trafficking

Attempting to export

Dealing

Dunkley:

"Possession
Trafficking

Attempting to export

Dealing

Craigie:
Possession
Trafficking

Attempting

2 years H.L.
1 year H.L.

2 years H.L.
fined 10,000,
years H.L.

2 years H.L.
fined 10,000

sentences:

in addition
00 or 3

in addition
or 3 years

H.L. - Consecutive to

Possession and Trafficking.

2 years H.L.
1 year H.L.

2 years H.L.
fined 10,000

2 years H.L.
fined 10,000

)
)

in addition
or 3 years.

concurrent

in addition
or 3 years

H.L. - Consecutive to

Possession and Trafficking.

2 years H.L.
1 year H.L.
2 years H.L.

fined 10,000.

E.L.

- Concurrent

in addition
or 3 years

30
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"Dwight Hyman, Nixton Wallace, Stanhope Nain,
Bryan Smalling, William Wood, Roy Brown,
Carlton Johnson, Frank Gray and Gerald Cameron,
on charges of Possession, Trafficking and
Attempting to Export, each fined $1,000 or 12
months H.L. on each charge."”

In declining to interfere with the sentences we had to
weigh against the considerations urged, the amount of ganja
involved, the international scope of the illicit endeavour, and
the prevalence of the offence, and in respect of Craigie, that
he was in charge of the operations on the night of January 4.

For these reasons, we affirmed the conviceions and

sentences.
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